IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-0376

LINN COUNTY NO. EQCV08415

P.M and C.M

Plaintiffs-Counterclaim Defendants-Appellees

VS.

T.B. and D.B.

Defendants-Counterclaimants-Appellants.

APPLICATION FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR LINN COUNTY, IOWA HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

DEFENDANTS-COUNTERCLAIMANTS-APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Harold J. Cassidy, Esq. (041562007) THE CASSIDY LAW FIRM 750 Broad Street, Suite 3 Shrewsbury, New Jersey 07702

Tel: (732) 747-3999 Fax: (732) 747-3944

Email: hjc@haroldcassidy.com

Admitted Pro Hac Vice

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

SCOPE OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Stew-McDevelopment, Inc v. Fischer, 770 NW2d 839, 844 (Iowa 2009)

Keokuk Junction Ry v. IES Indus., Inc. 618 NW2d 352, 355 (Iowa, 2000)

Sallee v. Stewart, 827 NW2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2013)

ISSUE I. IS THE BIRTH MOTHER WHO IS NOT GENETICALLY RELATED TO THE CHILD SHE CARRIES A BIOLOGICAL MOTHER AS A MATTER OF SCIENTIFIC FACT?

Lehr v. Robertson, 463 U.S. 248, 260 n.16 (1983)

Johnson v. Calvert, 851 P.2d 776, 78 (Cal. 1993)

Tuan Anh Nguyen et al v. Immigration and Naturalization Service, 533 U.S. 53 (2001)

Cal. Fam. Code § 7610(a)

ISSUE II. IS THE BIRTH MOTHER WHO IS NOT GENETICALLY RELATED TO THE CHILD SHE CARRIED AND GAVE BIRTH TO, A LEGAL MOTHER OF THE CHILD UNDER IOWA LAW?

Gartner v. Iowa Dept. of Public Health, 830 N.W. 375, 346-347 (Iowa 2013)

Callender v. Skiles, 591 N.W. 2d. 182, 191-192 (1999)

Schultze v. Landmark Hotel, 463 N.W. 2d 47, 49 (1990)

I.C.A. §144.11

I.C.A. §232.2(39)

I.C.A. §600A.1

I.C.A. §600A.2

Iowa Administrative Code §641.96.5(1)

Iowa Admin. Code §641.99.15(1)

Iowa Admin. Code §641.99.15(6)(a) through (f)

Iowa Adm. Code §641.99.15(6)(f)

American Heritage Dictionary, 5th Ed., Houghton Mifflin Harcort, New York 2011, P. 1149

ISSUE III. IN THE ABSENCE OF A GESTATIONAL SURROGACY ENABLING STATUTE, IS A SURROGACY CONTRACT ENFORCEABLE AGAINST THE BIRTH MOTHER'S WISHES, OR DOES ITS ENFORCEMENT VIOLATE THE STATUTORY LAWS OF IOWA, OR (AND) THE PUBLIC POLICY OF IOWA?

Lehr v. Robertson, 463 U.S. 248, 260 n.16 (1983)

Rogers v. Webb, 558 N.W.2d 155 (1997)

Johnson v. Calvert, 5 Cal. 4th 846 (1993)

In the Interest of B.G.C., 496 N.W. 2d 279, 244 (Iowa 1993)

In The Matter of Baby M, 109 N.J. 396, 537 A.2d 1227 (1988)

Iowa Code §232.2(39)

I.C.A. §600A.1

I.C.A §600A.2

I.C.A. §600 et seq.

I.C.A. §600A et seq.

I.C.A. §600.7

I.C.A. §600.4

I.C.A. §600.4(g)

I.C.A. §710.11

"After Baby M: The Legal, Ethical and Social Dimensions of Surrogacy," New Jersey Commission on Legal and Ethical Problems in the Delivery of Healthcare, 1992

Stedman's Concise Medical Dictionary, 2^{nd} ed., Williams and Wilkins, p.828

ISSUE IV. DOES THE STATE COURT ENFORCEMENT OF THE GESTATIONAL SURROGACY CONTRACT VIOLATE THE SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS OF BABY H?

Caplin & Drysdale v. United States, 491 U.S. 617 (1989)

Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190 (1976)

Singleton v. Wulff, 428 U.S. 106

Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438 (1972)

Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 503 (1977)

Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105 (1934)

Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 325 (1937)

Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 845 (1977)

Smith v. City of Fontana, 818 F.2d 1411, 1419 (9th Cir. 1987)

Wallis v. Spencer, 202 F.3d 1126, 1136 (9th Cir. 1999)

Lowry v. City of Riley, 522 F.3d 1086, 1092 (10th Cir., 2008)

Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 302 (1993)

In the Interest of D.W.K. 365 N.W.2d 32, 34 (Iowa 1985)

In the Interest of T.Q., 519 N.W. 2d 105, 106 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

In re D.S. 806 N.W. 2d 458, 464 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

In re Marriage of Jackson (2006), 136 Cal. App. 4th 980, 990

Goodarzirad v. Goodarzirad, 185 Cal. App. 2d 1020 (1986)

Ford v. Ford, 371 U.S. 187, 193 (1962)

Harper v. Virginia, 383 U.S. 663, 665 (1966)

N.J. Welfare Rights Organ. v. Cahill, 411 U.S. 619 (1973)

Weber v. Aetna, 406 U.S. 164 (1972)

Gomez v. Perez, 409 U.S. 535 (1973)

Levy v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 68 (1968)

Glona v. Amer. Guar. & Liab. Ins. Co., 391 U.S. 73

Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12 (1956)

Plyer v. Doe, 457 U.S.202, 216 (1982)

F.S. Royster Guano Co. v. Virginia, 253 U.S. 412, 415 (1920)

Clark v. Jeter, 486 U.S. 456 (1988)

Carrington v. Rash, 380 U.S. 89 (1965)

Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533 (1964)

Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962)

Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618 (1969)

Carey v. Brown, 447 U.S. 455 (1980)

Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104 (1972)

Police Dept. of City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104 (1972)

Police Dept. of City of Chicago v. Mosley, 408 U.S. 92 (1972)

Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438 (1972)

Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 11 (1967)

McLaughlin v. Florida, 379 U.S. 184, 192, 194 (1964)

In the Interest of D.W.K. 365 N.W.2d 32 (Iowa 1985)

In the Matter of the Interest of L.B.T., 318 N.W.2d 200, (Iowa 1982)

In re Marriage of Jackson 136 Cal. App. 4th 980 (2006)

In re the Adoption of B.J.H. B.J.G. and B.J.R.,564 N.W.2d 387 (Iowa 1997)

Huddleston v. Infertility Center of America, Inc., 700 A.2d 453 (Sup.Ct. Pa. 1997)

Tussman and tenBroek, *The Equal Protection of the Laws*, 37 Cal. L. Rev. 341, 344 (1949).

ISSUE V DOES THE STATE COURT ENFORCEMENT OF THE GESTATIONAL SURROGACY CONTRACT VIOLATE THE SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS OF T.B.

Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 503 (1977)

Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753, 759 (1982)

Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 845 (1977)

Lassiter v. Department of Soc. Serv., 452 U.S. 18, 27 (1981)

Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 651 (1972)

Lehr v. Robertson, 463 U.S. 248 (1983)

Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390 (1923)

Caban v. Mohammod, 441 U.S. 380 (1979)

Quilloin v. Alcott, 434 U.S. 246 (1978)

Tuan Anh Nguyen v. Immigration and Naturalization Services, 523 U.S. 53, 62-73 (2001)

M.L.B. v. S.L.J., 519 U.S. 102 (1996)

Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938)

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

Glona v. Amer. Guar. & Liab. Ins. Co., 391 U.S. 73

Petition of Bruce, 522 N.W. 2d 67 (Iowa 1994)

I.C.A §600A.4(f)(4)(g)

I.C.A §600A.9(2)

European Parliament's Annual Report on Human Rights, Nov. 30, 2015

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case. This case involves questions pertaining to whether a surrogate mother contract is enforceable over the objection of the birth mother under Iowa law and public policy, and whether state enforcement of such a contract violates the Due Process and Equal Protection rights of the child and/or her birth mother.

Iowa R.APP. PRO 6.1101(2)(C) applies because the case presents at least ten questions of first impression, including: whether a birth mother who carries a baby to term and gives birth, but who is not genetically related to the child, is, in fact, a biological mother of the child; whether that birth mother is the "legal" mother under Iowa law; whether so-called "gestational" surrogacy contracts are enforceable in Iowa despite the fact there is no enabling statute; whether the contract's enforcement violates Iowa's statutory scheme and public policy; whether enforcement of the contract violates the Fourteenth Amendment Substantive Due Process and Equal Protection rights of either the baby, or the mother, or both.

Iowa R.APP. PRO 6.1101(2)(d) & (f) applies because the case presents urgent issues of broad public importance concerning the rights and interests of children and their mothers which require ultimate determination and guidance

by the Iowa Supreme Court.

Iowa R.APP. PRO 6.1101(2)(a) applies because certain Iowa statutes, as construed by the District Court, violate two of the child's ("Baby H") Fourteenth Amendment Substantive Due Process Fundamental Liberty Interests, the child's Equal Protection Rights and violates two of T.B.'s Substantive Due Process Rights and her Equal Protection Rights.

Iowa R.APP. PRO 6.1101(2)(b) applies because the decision of the District Court conflicts with this Court's opinion of *In re The Marriage of Witten*, 672 N.W. 2d 768 (Iowa 2003).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE: NATURE OF THE ACTION, PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND DISPOSITION

A. Preliminary Statement and Nature of the Action

This case presents a number of questions of first impression both under Iowa Law and under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, relating to the enforceability of a surrogate mother contract.

Twin baby girls, Baby K and Baby H, were born thirteen weeks prematurely to T.B. on August 31, 2016. A216 Immediately after their birth, T.B. resided at the hospital and spent twelve hours a day with the babies while they were in the neonatal intensive care unit. A218 Because of prematurity and birth weights (1 pound 9ozs. and 1 pound 10ozs.) the babies' lives were in danger. T.B., as the legal mother of the babies, listed as such on their birth certificates, made medical decisions for the children in consultation with the NICU medical team. Baby K died at the age of seven days, and Baby H needed operations. A217

On October 24, 2016, P.M. and his wife, C.M., filed a petition to enforce a "gestational" surrogacy agreement entered into with T.B. and her husband.

On October 31, 2016, a preliminary injunction, obtained *ex parte*, was served on T.B. in the NICU where T.B. breast fed Baby H and where she had

stayed with Baby H since her birth two months earlier. A63.

P.M. alleged that he was genetically related to the child born to T.B., that his wife C.M. was not genetically related to the child, and sought termination of T.B.'s parental rights based upon the a surrogacy contract. A41

T.B. and her husband, D.B., filed an answer, additional defenses, and counterclaim on November 15, 2016, maintaining that: (1) she was, in fact, the mother of baby H; (2) she was the legal mother under Iowa law; (3) the surrogacy contract was unenforceable, and could not form a basis to terminate T.B.'s parental rights because Iowa has no statute making the contract enforceable, and such enforcement would violate Iowa's statutes and public policy; (4) any state court order enforcing the contract violates the Substantive Due Process and Equal Protection rights of Baby H; and (5) such order violates T.B.'s Substantive Due Process and Equal Protection rights. A121

B. Procedural History, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Iowa District Court

P.M.'s and C.M.'s petition sought termination of the rights of, and relationship between, T.B. and Baby H, born to T.B. on August 31, 2016,

based exclusively upon the surrogacy contract. A41 T.B. and D.B. did not know the petition was filed until they were served an *ex parte* injunction effectively terminating the rights of T.B. and Baby H. A63; A217

By that date, Baby H was two months old and had bonded with T.B. during the pregnancy, and for the two months following birth, while T.B. was with Baby H every day. T.B. provided breast milk for the baby, and before October 31, 2016, was actually breast feeding the baby.

T.B. was named on the birth certificate as Baby H's mother, mothered the child for two months, and made all necessary medical decisions for the baby for those two months she was in the NICU.

The preliminary injunction prohibited T.B. "from acting inconsistently with the terms of the gestational carrier agreement," and forbade T.B. from forming a relationship with the baby. It was impossible for T.B. to comply with those provisions. She already had a relationship with the child during the pregnancy and afterwards. The preliminary injunction, in effect, forbade T.B. from filing the counterclaim raising her arguments why enforcement of the contract violated the constitutional rights of Baby H and those of T.B.

As a result of the preliminary injunction, T.B. was forced to leave the hospital and Baby H was left without her mother and anyone to make medical

decisions for a baby born $14\frac{1}{2}$ weeks premature. T.B. filed a motion to vacate the preliminary injunction. *See*, $11\frac{1}{2}$ 16 motion.

On November 4, 2016, a second judge, Honorable Mary Chicchelly, appointed a Guardian *ad Litem* (GAL) to make medical decisions.

On November 15, 2016, T.B. and D.B. filed an answer, defenses and counterclaim. By order entered November 23, 2016, the District Court denied T.B.'s motion to vacate the injunction.

In its order denying T.B.'s motion to vacate, the District Court failed to address any of the six constitutional arguments advanced by appellants. The District Court only stated "[t]he court is not convinced that the gestational surrogacy agreement at issue in this case violates Baby H's or T.B.'s constitutional rights." A171 The Court's reasoning concerning why plaintiffs were likely to succeed on the merits was equally deficient and did not address T.B.'s substantive arguments. A171

Because of the harm to Baby H resulting from her separation from her mother, T.B. quickly sought *pendente lite* custody, on the papers submitted and strictly upon legal issues. *See*, Transcript Nov. 28, p.31, line13-p.32, line1. The matter was scheduled before a third judge, for November 28, 2016.

By that date, T.B. had filed a motion to dismiss P.M.'s petition for

failure to state a claim and for summary judgment. *See*, Motion 11/16/16. P.M. subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment. Motion 11/18/16.

On November 28, 2016, the Honorable Christoper L. Bruns started the hearing by announcing that:

"I'm convinced that under Iowa Law, the Iowa legislature and the Iowa Courts treat the biological connection between parents and the child – the genetic connection – as the defining factor whether a person is a parent of the child." Nov. 28, 2016, p.13, lines10-14.

Thereafter, the Court stated, without legal authority, that he must award custody to P.M. unless he is proven to be unfit. *Id.*, p.14, lines19-21; 23-25; p.17, lines 22-25.

T.B. argued that a fact finding hearing was premature because the relative rights of the parties had to be determined first. *Id.*, pp.25-27.

Despite the fact that the court held that T.B. had no rights, and the Court's acknowledgment that T.B. could not be prepared to prove unfitness, the Court took testimony anyway.

On December 7, 2016, the District Court ruled that: (1) T.B. was not a

biological parent of Baby H as a matter of fact because she made no biological contribution to the procreation of the child (a fact issue in dispute); (2) as a result, T.B. is not a legal parent of the child; (3) T.B. has no standing to seek custody; and (4) sole custody be awarded to P.M. A174

On February 21, 2017, the District Court denied T.B.'s motion to dismiss, and motion for partial summary judgment, and granted P.M.'s motion for summary judgment. A427

On the motions for summary judgment, the District Court held that T.B. was not a biological parent, or mother of Baby H and that the surrogacy contract is enforceable under Iowa law. The Court also ruled that enforcement of the contract does not violate either the Substantive Due Process rights or Equal Protection rights of Baby H, or T.B. *Id*.

T.B. filed a timely notice of appeal on all issues. A12

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. General Background

T.B. and P.M. met after T.B. happened upon a "Craig's List" ad posted by P.M. and C.M. seeking a woman to act as a surrogate. A198

T.B. never met anyone who acted as a "surrogate," never knew anyone who "hired" a surrogate, never read anything about surrogacy, and, therefore, never knew anything about the experience. A198-199

T.B. did not consult an attorney, a doctor, or any other professional before she met with P.M. and C.M., who assured T.B. that they could afford to pay all costs of the arrangement. No licensed agency or other professional managed the arrangement. A199-200 Thus, there was no home study of the M's and no counseling for T.B.

They agreed to a plan for P.M. to obtain ova from an anonymous woman, have the ova fertilized with P.M.'s sperm and have a double embryo transfer using in vitro fertilization techniques for T.B. to carry the two babies to term and give birth. A52

The M's chose Midwest Fertility Clinic in Downer's Grove, Illinois to perform the in vitro fertilization and embryo transfers. Midwest insisted on a written contract between the parties as a condition for the transfers. A200

The M's hired a lawyer in Iowa to draft the contract. T.B. did not have an attorney. When T.B. signed the contract, she had no counseling of any kind, and no one explained to her the law or the medical risks for her and the babies.

A200

B. Pertinent Contract Provisions

The contract recited that the M's would pay T.B. \$13,000 to carry the babies and give birth, but payment was conditioned upon T.B. surrendering custody of a live child following birth and T.B. submitting to the termination of her parental rights. Payment to be made only after surrender and termination was clearly in exchange for the child and termination of T.B.'s parental rights. A53 ("However, upon *surrendering* custody of the child to the intended parents *and termination*, if any, of parental rights the gestational carrier and her husband, all consideration for services and expenses will be paid.") (Emphasis added.) A55

The contract anticipates that the M's would pay for all costs associated with C.M.'s adoption of the babies, all costs associated with the termination of T.B.'s parental rights and all costs of counseling for T.B. associated with the adoption process under Iowa law (600A.4 Sec.2). A54

The contract requires surrender of the babies to P.M. even if such

surrender is not in the children's best interests, and even if there are no legal grounds to terminate T.B.'s parental rights and the rights of the children. A148

C. T.B. was Advised that She Was the Legal Mother

All of the parties recognized that as the woman who carried the children, T.B. was, in fact, the mother of the children, and all believed that T.B. was the legal mother, requiring her to submit to termination of her rights and an adoption by C.M. Both Lori Klockau, the M's attorney, and C.M. told T.B. those facts. A201-202, She understood that that was why the contract, drafted by Klockau, recited the provisions for termination and adoption. A202

D. The Scientific and Medical Facts Relating to the Inherent Dangers of "Gestational" Surrogacy Arrangements, Pertinent to the Public Policy Issues, Statutory Construction, and the Constitutional Issues

While the District Court granted summary judgment on the basis that all material facts were "uncontested," every material scientific and medical fact was not only contested, but only T.B. provided evidence on those facts. That included evidence concerning the very fact on which the District Court based its entire legal analysis: the Court's erroneous factual assumption that T.B. did not make a biological contribution to the procreation of Baby H.

T.B. submitted five expert certifications, which reference extensive

Summary Judgment and in opposition to that of P.M. P.M. failed to submit any expert testimony in opposition to T.B.'s motion or in support of his own. For purposes of both motions, T.B.'s evidence must be accepted as true. *Green v. Racing Assoc. of Cent. Iowa*, 713 N.W. 2d 234, 245 (Iowa 2006).

At the center of the "gestational" surrogacy agreement, is an intentional plan to deprive the child of the only mother she knew and strip the child of all of the essential benefits that the mother-child relationship provides the child. A296-312; A326-331; A121

To achieve this planned separation of mother and child, in "gestational" surrogacy arrangements IVF procedures and drug regimens are employed which place both the children and the mothers at significant risk for physical and psychological harm.

1.

The drug regimen to which the gestational surrogate is subjected is inherently dangerous to her. A398-399; A123-124 The daily injections over many weeks are painful. A203-204

The *in vitro* techniques used in gestational surrogacy pose far greater risks for both the children and the birth mother than when the child is

conceived through natural conception. The children are subjected to far greater risk for birth defects and other anomalies than by normal reproduction. A396-397 The birth mother who carries the children is subjected to greater risks than in normal pregnancy, especially since deliberate transfer of multiple embryos in an older women, such as T.B., poses special risks. A397 Resultant premature birth, common in multiples, cause significant risk of serious illness to the child. A296-297

The differences between artificial insemination and IVF procedures used in embryo creation and transfer are very significant. The substantial intrinsic risks of IVF support the Iowa's policy making the sale of a child in gestational surrogacy arrangement criminal while exempting artificial insemination arrangements from such liability. A411-414

2.

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