IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Case No. 17-0376

Linn County No. EQCV086415

P.M. and C.M., Plaintiffs-Appellees

v.

D.B. and T.B., Defendants-Appellants

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

Kevin C. Rigdon, AT0011385 Howes Law Firm, P.C. 3200 37th Avenue S.W. Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52404 Telephone: 319-396-2410

Facsimile: 319-390-1635

casey.rigdon@howeslawfirmpc.com

Philip J. De Koster, AT0010640 De Koster & De Koster, PLLC 1102 Main Street, P.O. Box 801

Hull, Iowa 51239-0801 Telephone: 712-439-2511 Facsimile: 712-439-2519 philip@dekosterlaw.com

Attorneys for the Appellees

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court's Decision Should Be Affirmed Because the Definition of a Parent is a Legal Determination Based Solely on Genetics.

A. Preservation of Error

PM and CM agree that TB and DB preserved error on all issues in their brief.

B. Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

The Appellees agree with the Appellants' statement that the standard of review is for correction of errors at law. Summary judgment is proper "if the record reveals a conflict concerning only the legal consequences of undisputed facts." *Pecenka v. Fareway Stores, Inc.*, 672 N.W.2d 800, 802 (Iowa 2003). Under this standard, the Court's review "is limited to whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the district court correctly applied the law." *Pillsbury Co. v. Wells Dairy, Inc.*, 752 N.W.2d 430, 434 (Iowa 2008).

C. <u>Appellees' Contentions</u>

The District Court correctly recognized that Iowa Law — both statutory and case law — treats the genetic (or biological) connection as the defining factor for parentage. (Tr. Nov. 28 Hearing 13:10–13:14;

17:4–17:8.) There is no genuine issue of material fact that the only party to the litigation with a genetic connection to the Child is PM. (Tr. Nov. 28 Hearing 38:3–38:12 (the Bs' counsel admits this fact); see also App. at 432.) After this determination, the definition of parent is a legal matter. See, e.g., Iowa Code § 232.2(39) (2016). As such, the defendants' purported "expert testimony" did not generate a genuine issue of material fact because it was an improper opinion on a matter of domestic law. See In re Estate of Ohrt, 516 N.W.2d 896, 900 n.1 (Iowa 1994); see also Terrell v. Reinecker, 482 N.W.2d 428, 430 (Iowa 1992) ("In general an expert witness is not permitted to state a legal conclusion."). The district court properly determined on summary judgment Iowa law provides a clear definition of parent.

Parentage in Iowa turns solely on genetics. The Iowa legislature defines a "parent" as "a biological or adoptive mother or father of a child...." Iowa Code § 232.2(39) (2016). Black's Law Dictionary defines "biological father" as "the man whose sperm impregnated the child's biological mother." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). It defines "biological mother" as "[t]he woman who provides the egg that develops into an embryo. With today's genetic-engineering

techniques, the biological mother may not be the birth mother, but she is usually the legal mother." *Id.* These definitions, again, indicate genetics, not gestation, is key.

The gestational surrogacy regulations and paternity statute provide strong support to this conclusion. The regulations use of the term "biological mother" to mean the genetic parent in contrast to "birth mother" to mean the surrogate completely undermines TB's claim that she is a "biological" parent by virtue of giving birth. *See* Iowa Admin. Code r. 641 – 99.15 (2016). The paternity statute provides for the use of blood and genetic tests to establish parentage, which indicate the importance of genetic connections. *See* Iowa Code § 600B.41 (2016). The Bs' definition of biological mother is unworkable; as the district court noted, the definition advanced

_

¹ Also of note is Black's pertinent definition of "surrogate mother: A woman who carries out the gestational function and gives birth to a child for another; esp., a woman who agrees to provide her uterus to carry an embryo throughout pregnancy, typically on behalf of an infertile couple, and who relinquishes any parental rights she may have upon the birth of the child." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

would mean multiple people could be the biological parent. The district court wrote:

...the Court has also considered the import of a different construction. If the phrase "a parent who has been a biological party to the procreation of the child" included any part of the entire reproductive process relating to biology, the Court's construction would result in an absurd or impractical result. Yes, this interpretation would include TB and any other gestational carrier within the definition of biological parent. It would also include the individuals who fertilized the donor egg with PM's sperm because that was a biological part of the reproductive process. It would include any individuals who cared for the fertilized eggs over the five days between the point when they were fertilized and when they were implanted in TB's uterus. It would also include the individual(s) who implanted the eggs in TB's uterus. TB would clearly have a far greater biological connection to the entire reproductive process than these other individuals, but reading the statutory definition broadly enough to include her as a biological parent would also mean all these other persons fell within the statutory definition.

Additionally, if the Court settled on a construction of section 600A.2 that included TB as a parent and excluded all others who were part of carrying out the IVF process, the construction would still result in an absurd or impractical result. This construction of the statute would mean any baby born by use of a donor egg in IVF has two biological mothers, the egg donor and the gestational carrier. The Court has no basis to believe the Iowa Legislature intended for such children to have two biological mothers.

(App. at 450–51.) The Bs' definition of biological mother is not only unworkable, but it finds no support in the law of the state of Iowa.

Iowa courts have defined legal parents as synonymous with genetic (or biological) parents. "The general rule is that [t]he state cannot interfere with the rights of natural parents²." In re B.G.C., 496 N.W.2d 239, 245 (Iowa 1993). The Iowa Court of Appeals has recognized that denying the truth of biological parentage would "perpetuate [a] fraud" by deceiving children into "believing a man who is not their biological father is their biological father." In re Marriage of Bethards, 526 N.W.2d 871, 874 (Iowa Ct. App 1994).3 In a termination and adoption case, the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed an order vacating an adoption where the preceding termination did not terminate a biological father's rights, even though the person named as the father of the baby signed a release of parental rights. *In re* B.G.C., 496 N.W.2d at 245.

_

² Biological parent and natural parent are synonyms. *See* Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014); *see also* Iowa Admin. Code r. 641 – 99.15 (2016).

³ Shortly after *Bethards* was decided, the Iowa legislature passed the disestablishment of paternity statute found in Iowa Code § 600B.41. *See* 1994 Iowa Acts 472.

Both the Iowa Supreme Court and the U.S. Supreme Court recognize that blood (or genetic relationships) provide the strongest constitutional parental right:

[i]t is one thing to say that individuals may acquire a liberty interest against arbitrary governmental interference in the family-like associations into which they have freely entered, even in the absence of biological connection or state-law recognition of the relationship. It is quite another to say that one may acquire such an interest in the face of another's constitutionally recognized liberty interest that derives from *blood relationship*, state-law sanction, and basic human right....

In re Bruce, 522 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1994) (quoting Smith v. Org. of Foster Families for Equal. and Reform, 431 U.S. 816, 846 (1977)) (emphasis added). This Court has written scientific advancements make the "identity of a biological parent a virtual certainty." Callender v. Skiles, 591 N.W.2d 182, 190 (Iowa 1999). As Defendants note, the long assumption is the birth mother is also the biological mother. (Tr. Nov. 28 Hearing 22:7–22:13.) But this Court cannot decide on assumption; Iowa law, through Callender, recognized ways of establishing parentage have changed and the biological link — as determined by a genetic test — is key. Callender, 591 N.W.2d at 189–91.

Iowa law renders "biological," "genetic," and "natural parent," synonyms. Throughout this brief, these words are used as such, and the definitions provided above are not repeated, except as necessary. The significant law on this issue undergirds the district court's well-reasoned opinion granting summary judgment, as parentage, after the determination of genetic connection, is a pure legal determination.

II. The District Court's Decision Should Be Affirmed Because the Agreement Is Enforceable.

A. <u>Preservation of Error</u>

PM and CM agree that TB and DB preserved error on all issues in their brief.

B. Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

The Appellees agree with the Appellants' statement that the standard of review is for correction of errors at law. Summary judgment is proper "if the record reveals a conflict concerning only the legal consequences of undisputed facts." *Pecenka*, 672 N.W.2d at 802. Under this standard, the Court's review "is limited to whether a

genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the district court correctly applied the law." *Pillsbury Co.,* 752 N.W.2d at 434.

C. Appellees' Contentions

The Agreement is an enforceable contract between the Ms and the Bs. Contracts are promises, "the performance of which the law recognizes as a duty and for a breach of which a remedy is given." *Port Huron Machinery Co. v. Wohlers*, 221 N.W. 843, 844 (Iowa 1928).

1. The Agreement contains the necessary elements of a valid contract.

The Agreement contains the requisite elements of a *prima facie* contract. Under Iowa law, a valid, binding contract requires "offer, acceptance, mutual manifestation of assent, consideration, and capacity." *Magnusson Agency v. Pub. Entity Nat. Co.-Midwest*, 560 N.W.2d 20, 25 (Iowa 1997). The Agreement contains all these necessary elements. (App. at 448.) Indeed, the Bs have never argued otherwise. (App. at 448 n.21.) Additionally, the parties both ratified the contract by making and accepting the performance contemplated by the Agreement and should therefore be bound by its terms. *Life Investors Ins. Co. of Am. v. Estate of Corrado*, 838 N.W.2d 640, 646-47

(Iowa 2013). The record and TB and DB's Brief contain no contention the Agreement was breached by the Ms. As this Court recognized in *Witten*, parties should be able to "rely on the terms of the parties' contract, especially after the use of an embryo. *In re Marriage of Witten*, 672 N.W.2d 768, 782 (Iowa 2003). Similarly, the record and TB and DB's Brief contain no contention the Agreement lacks the ordinary elements of a valid contract in Iowa. Instead, the Bs claim the otherwise enforceable contract is "void" based on public policy grounds, illegality, and incongruity with alleged State and Federal constitutional rights.

2. Defendants cannot rebut the strong presumption the Agreement is enforceable.

Defendants do not satisfy the extremely high standard for invalidation of the Agreement. Where the elements of a contract are present, "[t]here is a presumption that [the] contractual agreement is binding upon the parties." *Norwest Bank Des Moines Nat. Ass'n v. Bruett*, 432 N.W.2d 711, 712 (Iowa 1988) (citing *Commercial Trust & Sav. Bank of Storm Lake v. Toy Nat'l Bank of Sioux City*, 373 N.W.2d 521, 524 (Iowa 1985)). "The power to invalidate a contract on public

policy grounds is a delicate one, to be exercised solely in cases free from doubt." *Id.* (citing *Walker v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.,* 340 N.W.2d 599, 601 (Iowa 1983). The party claiming an otherwise enforceable contract is invalid based on public policy or illegality bears the burden of persuasion as to this invalidity. *Id.*

a. The Contract is not Void for Violation of Public Policy or Illegality.

The Bs cannot show such a clear violation of public policy that would void an otherwise enforceable contract.

The fact a statute provides an administrative or criminal penalty for its violation is not the test for determining contractual rights of parties to a transaction involving some form of illegality. The degree of the illegal factor, extent of public harm that may be involved, and moral quality of the conduct of the parties in light of prevailing mores and standards of the community are influential factors in determining whether some judicial remedy will be granted.

Beneficial Fin. Co. of Waterloo v. Lamos, 179 N.W.2d 573, 580 (Iowa 1970) (citations omitted). Today, Iowa Courts resolve contract validity issues, predicated on public policy or illegality, by following the rule set forth in the Restatement. *Mincks Agri Center, Inc. v. Bell Farms, Inc.*, 611 N.W.2d 270, 275 (Iowa 2000) (citing Restatement

(Second) of Contracts § 178(2)–(3), at 6–7 (1981)). Courts must balance the competing interest of the following three factors weighing in favor of validity:

"(1) the parties' justified expectations; (2) whether a party would suffer a forfeiture if the contract were not enforced; and (3) any special public interest in enforcement."

Id. Courts also weigh the following four factors:

"(1) the strength of that policy as manifested by [legislation or judicial decisions]; (2) whether refusal to enforce the contract will further that policy; (3) the seriousness of the failure to comply with the [policy] and the extent to which such failure was deliberate; and (4) the directness of the connection between policy and the contract to be performed.

Id. If these four factors are present, the court should find the contract to be invalid. *Id.* In this case, because all of the *Mincks* factors weigh in favor of finding the Agreement to be valid, the Bs are unable to meet their burden to void the otherwise enforceable contract.

In *Mincks Agri Center, Inc. v. Bell Farms, Inc.*, a grain elevator ("Mincks") purchased yield delivery hedges from a supplier ("Bell"). *Id.* at 271. Mincks then sold these hedges to Oakville, which sought to enter new hedges with Bell, who refused. *Id.* After this transfer, Mincks lost his grain dealer license and Bell failed to deliver grain

pursuant to the hedges. Id. Mincks brought an action seeking damages for this "breach" and obtained a jury verdict for damages. Id. On Bell's appeal, the Iowa Supreme Court held that the first three factors in support of validity were not present. The Court found Mincks had no justifiable expectation of delivery by Bell because Mincks transferred his interest in the contracts and could not accept delivery because he was not a licensed grain dealer. Id. at 278. The Court further found Mincks suffered no forfeiture because he did nothing in the way of preparation for delivery. Id. Additionally, the Court found "the public interest weighs against enforcement" because Mincks's performance without a license is prohibited by Iowa law, and financial instability made him unable to pay the hedged contract price. *Id.* at 279. The Court also held the four factors weighing in favor of invalidity were present. First, the policy underlying the licensing requirement was strong in that it "ensures that producers will receive payment for their grain." Id. Secondly, the Court found refusal to enforce the contracts will further this public policy because a result to "require [a] producer to make his own evaluation of the financial condition of the dealer [in the] absence of a license to reflect this condition...is directly contrary to the goals" of the public policy reflected in the licensure statute. *Id.* at 279–80. Third, the Court held the gravity of the policy violation was serious, given the punishment for grain transactions by an unlicensed dealer (fines and imprisonment). *Id.* at 280. Fourth, the Court determined the licensure policy violation directly related to Mincks's ability to perform the contract legally. *Id.* Because each consideration weighed against enforceability, the Court found the "contracts unenforceable on the basis of public policy." *Id.* at 281.

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